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JUDGMENT OF THE COURT 

Quilliam J . A. 

This is an appeal and cross - appeal from the decision 

of the Supreme Court in proceedings arising out of the business· 

relationships of the parties . 

The facts are set out in detail in the judgment 

appealed from , but it is necessary fo r present purposes to 

give a summary of them and of the background to the proceedings . 
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To avoid confusion it is convenient to refer to the parties 

as the plaintiff and the defendant . 

The defendant is a retired accountant although 

never licensed as such . He was formerly employed by the 

firm of Pearce & Company which firm he later acquired . Over 

a long period from 1946 there devel oped a business relationship 

between, on the one hand, the defendant and on the other hand 

the plaintiff ' s father and mother and eventually the plaintiff 

himself. The plaintiff ' s father had been a farmer. His 

mother started a transport business . In apout 1962 for the 

purposes of that business the practice developed of all 

income being paid to the defendant who would bank it in his 

personal account and p a y all outgoings from the same account . 

The plaintiff managed his mother ' s transport business 

and also operated businesses of his own. The practice continued 

in respect of all his business dealings of the defendant 

acting as his banker . The defendant rendered annual accounts 

to the plaintiff in respect of the money received and expended 

by him. 

In 1970 the plaintiff decided to import buses from 

the English firm of Seddon Motors Limited for his firm which 

was r egis tered under the name of K. R . Latchan Bus Service. 

He required two buses for his own business and he decided 

also to seek the sole selling agency for the English firm in 

Fiji, Samoa and Tonga . Following correspondence between the 

plaintiff (supported by the defendant) and Seddon Motors 

Limited an arrangement was made for the supplying of the two 

buses and also for the sole agency . The arrangement could 

not at once be put into effect b e cause the plaintiff had to 

find a source of finance . The outcome of this was that the 

defenda nt agreed to finance him and must have b een regarded 

by Seddon Motors Limited as the plaintiff ' s backer. An 

agreement, known as a Distributors Agreement, was entered 

into between an agent for Seddon Motors Limite d and Brunswick 

Motors (described in the agreement as also trading as 

K. R. Latchan Bus Service) . 
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This agreeme nt i s dated the 1st Nov e mber , 19 72 . The importing 

of buses started earlier than that . 

buses was placed in February, 1971 . 

The first order of two 

These were for us e by 

the K. R. Latchan Bus Service itself . They were financed 

by th e dcfend~nt . Six more ar rived in Oc tobe r, 1971 a nd 

that marked the start of the b usiness of Br unswick Motors . 

What was impor ted was the chass i s a nd the bodies we re built 

on them by the plaintiff . Both th e cost of the chassis a nd 

the body-building was financed by the d e fendant . Upon the 

sale of completed buses they were ei th er sold for cash or 

the defendant would finance the purchasers on the security 

of bills of sal e . Over Llie year s the d efendant advanced 

s ubstan tial s ums to Brunswick Motors . The account fluctuat e d 

from time to time as r eceipts f r om the business were p aid 

in . 

The business of importing chassis and selling buses 

flouri shed a nd b e tween 1st January, 1973 and 31st December, 

1977 74 bus chassi s were imported . 

On 17th December 1971, the plaintif f appl ied for 

registration of th e business name Brunswick Motors and gave 

the d ate of commencement of that busines s as the 2nd February, 

1971 . On th e 28th December, 1972 the plaintif f a nd the 

defendant joined in an applicat ion unde r th e Registration 

of Business Na mes Act r ecording a change of particulars . 

This was f or the p11rpose of recording a partnership between 

them . That partnership was sh own as h avi ng commenced on 

the 17th February, 1971 . The learned Judge found as a fact 

that it comme nced on th e 2nd February , 1971, which was the 

date shown as that on which the bus iness of Drunswic k Mo~ors 

commence d . 

The r elationship between th e parties dete riora ted 

and on the 2nd October, 1978 , the plaintiff wrote to the 

defendant giving no tice o f dissolution of th e partnership 

as fr om the 30th September , 1978, a nd inviting the defenda nt 

t o- dr aw up the partners hip accounts as a t that date . 
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In January, 1979, the plaintiff issued an Originating 

Summons seeking a number of declaratory orders, and then 

followed it in July 1980 by a Statement of Claim . It will be 

necessary for us to refer to the facts in more detail in 

respect of particular aspects of the appeal as we deal with 

each of them . 

proceedings . 

We now summarise the nature and scope of the 

The Originati ng Summons sought declarations: 

l . That the plaintiff formed the firm of 

Brunswick Motors and was at all times 

the sole proprietor of it . 

2 . That by reason of a confidential relationship 

existing between the plaintiff and the 

defendant and of a f alse r epresentation made 

by the defendant the plaintiff was induced 

to accept the defendant as a partner . 

3 . That the defendant exercised undue influence 

over the plaintiff in order to obtain a 

one-half interest in the firm . 

4 . That the partnership was dissolved o n 

30th September, 1978 , and that accounts 

should be settled . 

5 . That in the settlement of accounts certain 

items should be debited against the 

defendant . 

6 . That the defendant had used for his own 

purposes money deposited with him by t he 

plaintiff on behalf of the firm. 

The plaintiff accordingly sought orders that the partnership 

be . set aside and that the defendant account to the plaintiff , 

and also th a t the defendant pay damages or compensation for 

his use of t he firm's money . 
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The Statement of Claim in its finally ame nded form sets out 

the allegations in considerable detail . The relief sought 

is in substance the same as tha t set out in the Originating 

Summons although there a re additional prayers for relief 

as well. There was a Counterclaim by the defendant in which 

he in his turn sought relief. 

as follows: 

That relief may be summarised 

1. A declaration that a partnership had 

existed from 17th February , 1971 until 

30th September, 1978 , and had been 

dissolved on the latter date. 

2. A decl a ration that after dissolution the 

plaintiff wrongfully used the partnership 

assets to derive profits for himself. 

3 . Orders for the taking of accounts and for 

the final settling of accounts by the 

Court at the hearing of the action . 

4 . An order for payment by th e plaintiff to 

the d efendant of the latter's share. 

5. An order for payment by the plaintiff of 

the defendant's s hare of any profit made 

after dissolution, or alternatively for 

payment of interest . 

It is unnecessary to give any greater detail of the 

pleadings at th is stage, although reference will have to be 

made later to certain particular aspects . 

After a lengthy hearing the learned Judge delivered 

a reserved judgment. The effect of that judgment was to 

disallow the whol e of the relief claimed by the plaintiff with 

two relatively minor excepti ons . Those were in respect of 

ac.coun tancy fees and commission charged by the d efendant to 

the p artnership each of which was ordered to be deleted as not 
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being properly chargeable in the partne rship accounts . On 

the counterclaim the learned Judge made the declarations 

sought as to the existence and dissolution of the partnership 

and as to the wrongful use by the plaintiff of the partnership 

assets after th e dissolution . He then decided that he should 

settle and pass the accounts and did so, and he made an order 

for the sale by the defendant to the plaintiff of a one-half 

share in the partnership, and for the payment by the plaintiff 

of the purchase price which, together with interest, he fixed 

at $257 , 387.73 . 

The plaintiff appealed against the disallowance of 

all those items of relief upon which h e had fai l ed and also 

against the declarations and orders made against him in the 

counterclaim. The defendant in turn cross- appealed against 

the e xclusion from the partnership accounts of the two items 

of accountancy fees and commission, and agains t th e disallowance 

of costs. 

Before considering any of the particular grounds of 

appeal it is n ecessary to say something in a general way 

about the course which events took between the parties . 

The arrangement whereby the plaintiff (and, before 

him, his mother and father) had paid money to the defendant 

who had simply deposited i t to his personal account was, to 

say th e least, an unusual one . There can be little doubt 

that many of the difficul ties which arose in the course of · the 

proceedings must be attributed to this practice and in particular 

to the fact that the defendant made no attempt to maintain 

any separate set of accounts for the partnership as distinct 

from the numerous other people with whom he was dealing . We 

will refer later to some of the repercuss i ons of this . 

Nevertheless a close business relationship became 

established between the plaintiff and the defendant and there 

seems little reason to doubt that for a period of about six 

y~ars that was both a profitable a nd an amicable relationship . 
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There came a time, however, when this changed . Some time in 

1977 the plaintiff decided to get rid of the defendant whom 

he regarded as a nuisance . In about October, 1977, the 

partnership was in credit with the defendant to the extent of 

over $121,000. The plaintiff stopped making payments into 

the defendant's account and indeed drew on the account by 

the end of January 1978 to a · total of about $187,000, so 

that the partnership's account was then in debit by about 

$75,000 . When the defendant realized that payments to his 

account had stopped he refused to provide any further finance 

for the partnership . 

Although the plaintiff had decided to get rid of the 

defendant he does not appear to have done anything about it 

until May 1978 when he consulted his solicitors . On 2nd May 

1978 the solici t ors wrote to the defendant saying t hat an 

audited statement of the plaintiff ' s interest in Brunswick 

Motors was needed to enable him to satisfy his bank in respect 

of an application for credit. The defendant was asked to 

make his records available for inspection . Concern was 

expressed that there had been no separate bank account kept 

for the partnership . This letter was fol lowed by a visit to 

defendant's office by the plaintifi and Mr. Mills, an accountant , 

but the defendant became upset and refused to let them see 

his accounts . Notwithstanding the deterioration in their 

relationship it was not until the 2nd October , 1978 , that the 

plaintiff wrote to the defendant with notice of dissolution 

of the partnership as at the 30th September , 1978, and a 

request that accounts be prepared to that date . On the 

16th January , 1979, the plaintiff issued his Originating 

Summons and since then the parties have been involved in the 

present proceedings . 

A substantial number of matters are i n issue between 

the parties, but inevitably some are of more significance 

than others . There are two main matters: 

1. Whether there was a valid partnership created 

b etween the parties . 
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2. If there was, wh e ther the learned Judge was 

in error in declining to appoint a referee 

and order the taking of accounts and in 

ordering a sale by one party to the other. 

We deal with these in turn and will then consider the ancillary 

matters. 

l. Partnership 

It was common ground that the parties went through 

the process of establishing themselves as partners in the 

business known as Brunswick Motors. A relatively minor 

matter arose as to the date of commencement of that partnership, 

and we will deal with this among the ancillary matters . The 

real issue concerned the plaintiff's allegation that there 

should be an order setting aside the partnership on the ground 

that it was wrongfully and unlawfully procured by the defendant 

and so was never to be regarded as a valid partnership . This 

allegation was made upon two grounds: 

(a) That the defendant acted as the plaintiff ' s 

sole business adviser, accountant and 

financier and was accordingly in a 

confidential and fiduciary relationship 

to the plaintiff so as to have been able 

to acquire a knowledge of the plaintiff ' s 

business secrets and methods . In this way, 

and by reason also of a false representation 

made by the defendant, he h ad induced the 

plaintiff to accept him as an equal partner . 

(b) That by the exercise of undue influence 

ov e r the plaintiff the defendant had 

obtained for himself a half share in the 

partnership business . 

Tpe learned Judge rejected both these all egations . 
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(cl) Fiduciary relationship and false r epresentation 

There is no doubt that th e defendant was ful ly 

aware of the plaintiff ' s affairs . He had advised the 

members of th e family for years and helped the plnintiff 

with advice and finance . He knew of the plaintiff's 

desire t o make an arrangement for the importing of buses 

and took part in the negotiations to achi eve thc1t . It is 

no doubt true to say that he was in a fiduciary relationship 

to the plaintiff i n t he sense that he wa s receiving the 

plaintiff's money into his per sonal bank accoun t and so was 

under a duty to account to the plaintiff for that money . 

There is , however , no suggestion th a t the defendant fai l ed 

t o account f or any of that money and there seems to be no 

connec t i on b etween the fiduciary relationship and the crea tion 

of the partnership. 

The allegation t hat t her e was a false r e presen tation 

which induced the plaintiff to agr ee to th e p artnership is 

contained in paragraph 11 of the Statement of Claim : 

"(a) That the defendant in the month of Dec ember , 1972, 
at Suva made r epresentations to the plaintiff to 
th e effect that the plaintiff's late father had 
as ~ed the defendant to guide and assist th e 
plaintiff i n his business affairs after the 
death of the plaintiff ' s father. 

(b) That th e defendant whe n making the r epr esentati o ns 
aforesaid also made false represe ntations to the 
plaintiff to the eff ect that t h e plaintiff was 
heavily indebted to the defendant . " 

Paragraph (a) would not appear to i nvol ve any 
1 representation at all, but the matter was clar i fi ed by 

Mr . Shankar on b e hal f of the pla intiff wh e n h e made i t clear 

, that he was r elying upon th e allegation th at the de f endant 

."·>,had falsely r epresen ted the plaintiff was h eavily indebted 

I 
to him . This in turn was furthe r refined bec ause it was 

I 
, 'common ground t hat the extent of t he plaintiff's indebtedness 

at t ha t time was $32,501 . 92 . 

I 
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~ ' The 'question therefore was whether, when that indebtedness 
~ ' I \ 

1 

I 

1 
, was described by the defendant as heavy, t hat was a fa l se 

statement . Mr . Shankar's argument was th a t the plaintiff 

had at t hat time assets valued at $107,000 a nd also an 

interest in 200 acr es of freehold l a nd, and as well had 

shown a profit for 1972 of $39 , 386 . 10 . It was accordi ngly 

argued that in the l ight of such a fi nancial position it 

could not be properly said tha t by owing some $3 2,5 00 the 

plaintiff was heavily i ndebted . 

It should be observed that the value of th e net 

assets was taken from the e vidence of Mr . Vilash , the 

accountant called on the p l a intif f ' s accou nt . In that 

passage in his evidence Mr . Vilash was referring to the 

accounts of K. R . Latchan Brothers . The plaintiff was in 

partnership with h is b rother i n a dairy business and it 

appears th ~ accounts related to that partnership rather 

than to th e plaintiff personally . Whether that is so or 

not, however, th e learned J udge considered that owing a sum 

of $32,500 constituted heavy indebtedness and we cannot for 

a moment say he was not entitled to make that finding . The 

sum is a large one and the plaintiff' s business at that t ime 

was a modest one . 

It was further a rgued by Mr. Shankar that the extent 

of the plaintiff ' s indebtedness had been concealed from h im 

by t he defendant, and that if he h~d realized it was only 

some $32,500 h e would not h a ve felt under an obligation to 

admit th e · defendant t o partnership . The learned Judge h as , 

however, made it clear in his findings tha t th e plaintiff 

was fully aware of his position , in g eneral if not in precise 

detail, and we can see no basis upon which we ought to say 

that he could not properly have made that finding . 

It has not been es tablished that the learned Judge 

was in error in holding that th e p a rtnership did not a ris e 

,, from the breach of a fiduciary relationship or from a ny false 

I representation . 
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(b) Undue influence 

This allegation was based on the propos it ion that 

the defendant had taken an unfair advantage of the plaintiff . 

The question of undue influence is one which 

requi r es to be considered upon the basis of whether a specia l 

relationship existed between the parties . If it did then 

there arises a presumption of undue influence which it is for 

a defendant to rebut (18 Halsbury 4th Edition p . 148, para . 330). 

What constitutes a special relationship for this purpose was 

considered in In re Craig (1971) Ch . 95 . Ungoed- Thomas J . 

reviewed the authorities and summarised the position at p . 104 

in this way: 

"Wha t has to be p r oved to raise the 
presumption of undue influence is first 
a gift so substantial (or doubtless 
otherwise of such a nature) that it cannot 
prima facie be reasonably accounted for 
on the ground of the ordinary motives on 
which ordinary men ac t; a nd secondly , a 
r elat ionship between donor and donee in 
which the donor has such confidence and 
trust in th e donee as to place the donee 
in a position to exercise undue inf luence 
over the donor in making such a gift . " 

The emphasis is accordingly upon inequal i ty of position and 

bargaining power. This emerges clearly fro m the cases in 

which a special relati onship h as been held to exist . In 

In r e Craig i t was the case of a man whose wife h ad died 

leaving him her estate and who then engaged a secretary-

companion to whom he proceeded to make a series of gifts 
\ \ ,, I 

•\ t ot alling over hal f his estate . In Zamet v Hyman (1961) ,, ' 

•• ,,j A'11 E . R . 933 a 71 year o l d widow who proposed to marry a 
I ' . ' 
• 79 ,year o l d widower was taken to the latter ' s solicitor 

• \an<;l. induced to sign a previously prepared deed relinquishing 
'f I I ,, 

' her rights to claim against h i s estate . 

These cases are suffic~ent to ihdicate that the 

present case cannot be regarded as one of speci al relationship . 
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The parties were upon reasonably level terms and certainly 

the plaintiff was not in a ny specially vulnerable positioh . 

We will return to this s h o rtly , but it is necessary first 

to refer to the general principle which is to be applied in 

corisidering the claim of undue influence . The rule is of 

long standing ond provides that where u trans.-:iction is shown 

to have been so opposed to fair dealing that it ought not to 

be' binding the Court will be prepared to interfere 

.(Chesterfield v Janssen (1751) 2 Ves. Sen . 125 a t p. 155; 

E.R . 82 at p . 100) . 

The plaintiff's case was that t h e defendant had 

established himse l f in a position of authority over th e 

plaintiff in so far as he had full control of all his finances 

and was his sole business adv iser and accountant as well as 

having been the whole family's guide, philosopher and friend . 

It is true that the defendant bad achieved very much that 

ro l e . It is necessary, however, to look also at the position 

of the plaintiff . In December 1972 when the defendant was 

admitted as a partner the plaintiff was about 31 years of 

age and already well established in business. He had been 

in partnership wi th his mother and brother in a dairy business 

and, in 1962, had started his own bus service , namely 

K. R. Latchan Bus Service . It appears both these bus inesses 

had operated successfully . He had been sufficiently astute 

as to see the possibilities of importing buses for distribut ion, 

not only throughout Fiji but also in Samoa a nd Tonga. He 

required the assistance which the defendant was able to 

supply in order to conclude that arrangement, but it is clear 

from the correspondence that he h ad a f ull understanding of 

t he business implications . 

The plaintiff was also, at least in genera l terms, 

aware of his own financial position . He had been receiving 

from the defendant annual statements of hi3 account, and 

there is no suggestion that he was j_ncapable of understanding 

them . 
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The extent of the plainti f f's intellectua l cap acity and 

general acumen is demonstr a ted by the fact that a few years 

l ater , in 1 977, he wa s elected as a Membe r of Parli a me nt . 

It is plain, therefore , that the plaintiff was well ab l e 

to look after hims e lf a nd wa s a t no stage d ea ling with th e 

defendant from a ~ osition of intelle ctua l or emotion a l 

weakness . 

Before any question of a partnership arose the 

plaintiff was indebted to the defendant . When th e possibility 

of a new business of importing buses arose it must have 

been obvious to the d e fendant t hat he would be expected to 

provide the finance . He had provided finance for memb ers of 

the family over a numbe r of years and had done so without 

security . Indeed , even at a time when the indebtedness of 

the partnership to him reached $100,000 he still held no 

security. The protection which he sought for himself in 

respect o{ the new venture of Brunswick Motors was to say 

that he thought he should have a partnership. He pursued 

this request over a period of about two years, and it is 
1 apparent that for most of this time th e plaintiff was able 

ko · iesist these reque sts. 
1/1 ', 

The defendant e ventually made it 

c~ea~ he was not prepa r e d to continue financing the plaintiff 

, unless he received a partnership . This was not a matter of 
"' l I I 

, 

0

p1ressure or unf a ir b a rgaining . It was a busine ss nego tiation. 

The plaintiff was at liberty to seek his finance else where 

and terminate his association with the d e fendant . 

not to do so , and th e reas on is obvious . 

He chose 

At no stage did the plaintiff attempt to find an 

alternative source of finance . It must have been plain to 

him that he could not possibly have obtained such liberal 

and satisfactory terms as he had received and could e x pect 

to receive from the defendarit . He was required to f i nd n o 

security and he could e xpe ct to draw a lmos t at wi ll upon 

the defendant' s a c c ount u pon the basis o f a daily r Qte . 

Al l receipts went at once to lower t he account . . 
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He was in truth receiving all the advantages of 

operating on a c urrent overdraft account but with none of 

the disadvantages . 

It has been argued that in agreeing to accept the 

defendant as a partner he was at a di sadvantage because h e 

received no inde p endent legal advice . I t is the case that 

he did not consult a solicitor as to this proposal , a lthough 

it is plain he could well have done so had h e wi s h ed . He had 

solicitors who had acted for him and there is no suggestion 

that he was diss u a d ed from consulting them . The absence of 

independent legal advice i s one of the factors which may 

lead to the concl usion that th e re has been undue influence 

but it does not rest alone . This is to be seen from the 

l eading case of Al lcard v Skinner (1887) 36 Ch . D. 145 . In 

the present case the absence of leg a l advice was in no sense 

a determina tive factor b ecause the plaintiff was fully aware 

of his position and able to make his own decision . Although 

we have expressed ourselves a little differently, we a re in 

full agr eement with the learned Judge that there was no undue 

influence e x ercised b y the defendant to procure a partnership 

~nd the appeal against the finding as to th i s must fail . 

We should perhaps add that , even if this had been 

a case in which there was a special relationship, the presumpti~n 

'of undue influence was , upon the evi dence , rebutted for j ust 

such reasons as we have already set out . 

2 . Appointment of Referee and Taking of Accounts 

Accepting that there was in e xistence a valid 

partnership which was in due course dissolved as at the 

30th Septe mber , 1 978, the next main issue concerns what 

consequence s ought to have followed . The learned Judge 

decide d to settle and pass t h e accounts in the form 

presented to him and ordered a sale of the d e f end ant ' s hal f 

share to the plaintiff . This has been strongly chal l enged . 
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It requires consideration under two heads : 

(a) As to the settlement of accounts 

(b) As to the order for sale . 

Some general observations of application to both 

those matters must first be made. 

It was in 1977 that the plaintiff decided he wanted 

to get rid of the defendant. It was the defendant's case 

that the reason for thi s was the plaintiff's growing realization 

that the business of Brunswick Motors had flourished and tha t 

~e wished to r~gain the defendant's interest for himself. 

This may well be true, but at least it must b e borne in mihd 

that the plaintiff was the partner who desired the dissolutjon. 

He set about trying to obtain an accounting from 

. the defendant and he met with resistance . Finally, he gave 

a notice of dissolution . He was entitled to do so and one 
I , ' 

1
.'

1 
., might have expected that the normal consequences of dissolution 

'would be put into effect . Those would have involved a taking 

, of accounts, the r esolution of differences by a referee, and 
I ' ' 

, then the division of proceeds in accordance with the entitlement 

of each partner . Had the plaintiff acted promptly to achieve 

that there seems no reason to believe there need have been 

any greater difficulty involved than the interpretation of 

the defendant ' s undoubtedly unusual accounting system . One 

might have expected, however, that a final winding-up could 

have been achieved i n a fairly brief period . 

That d id not happen . Instead, after six or seven 

years during which the plaintiff accepted the e xiste nce of 

a part ne rship and the undoubted benefits which he had 

received from it he suddenly elected to try and repudiate 

the entire arrangement . In January, 1979, only f our months 

after he had given his notice of dissolution, he issued his 

Originating Summons seeking a declaration that no valid 

partnership had e ver existed . 
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Not surprisingly this, and the action which followed, me t 

with resolute res istence from the defendant . There followed , 

~nevitably, long delays which were not finally resolved u nti l 

the judgment of the Supreme Court was delivered in October, 1982 . 

It hpS been said tha t some of t he delay may have been due 

to the pressures on the Court itself, and that may be so . 

That was, however, a known likelihood a nd the mom e nt the 

proceedings were i ssued it must have been obvious that th e 

allegations which were made could not be resolved fo r a 

considerable period . It follows that the plaintiff, who 

initiated the entire matter by dissolv i ng t h e partnership 

and then asserting it h ad never existed, had prevented the 

normal sequence of events from b eing pursued . The position 

which confronted the learned Judge must be considered in th e 

light of that situation . He was r equired to make an order 

which was capable , fou r year s after the event, of having some 

sort of practical application . 

(a) Settlement of accounts 

It is observed by the author of Lindley on th e 

Law of Partnership, 14th Ed., p . 553: "The right of e v e ry 

partner to have an account from his co-partners of their 
I 

deal ings and transactions is too obvious to require comment . " 

The only question for decision in this case was 

~ow that accounting was to be achieved . It had b een contended 

for the plaintiff that there should b e reference to a referee 

in order. to enable any differences to be resolved . 

pr esent case this would h a v e achieved nothing . 

In t he 

It must b e r emembered that, a l t h o ugh t he defendant 

had rendered Statements of Accoun t of Brunswick Motors e v ery 

'• year , his books and record s were primitive in the e xtre me . 

He ,operated for all his personal and business activ ities 

'., only a single bank account . He had not attempted to separate 
I ' 

' out the numerous dealings through t h at account affecting a 

variety of different people . 
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We will deal later with some of the consequences which must 

follow from this . It is sufficient for the moment to say 

t~at the compiling of partnership accounts for Brunswick 

Motors for the purposes of dissolution was a formidable t ask. 

The plaintiff engaged Mr . Vilash, a qualified 

chartered accountant to undertake this task . Mr. Vilash 
encountered certain difficulties, but in the end he was 

able to compile a set of re-structured accounts. For this 

purpose he made certain assumptions , not all of which turned 

out to be justified, and eventually conceded that some errors 

had been made by him . On behalf of the defendant another 

chartered accountant was engage d and h e also examined the 

books of the plaintiff ' s businesses as well as the re-structured 

accounts of Mr. Vilash. He was in general agr eement with 

those accounts, but he noted seven points of difference 

which he thought required to be made. Each of these was 

considere d by the learned Judge in the course of his judgment 

and findings upon them we re duly made. They form the subject 

of some of the ancillary matters of appeal to which we will 

refer later . 
. I 

In the result the learned Judge was presented 

with a set of accounts upon which an experienced accountant 

from each side were agreed, with the exceptions referred to . 

Those exceptions were of a legal and not of an accounting· 

nature. It is therefore, apparent that any question of 

refer~nce to a referee would have been superfluous . 

There was a matter which remained unresolved by 

the re-structured accounts . It related to the allegation 

~a~e by the plaintiff that the defendant had on occasions 

, pp~lied partnership money for his own personal use, and in 

, p~rticular for lending to other persons and upon which he 
I I; 1.. ' 

••,. derived interest . Although it was nev e r suggested that there 

was any element of fraud in t _his, and indeed it was conceded · 

by Mr. Koya on behalf of the plaintiff that no question of 

conversion arose ; _nevertheless it was said. that th e use of 

a single b a nk account and the confusion of money from various 

sources must have resulted in this kind of misuse of 
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partnership funds. We were at one stage referred to e xtracts 

from e xhibits which were said to show that , at a time when 

the partnership was in substantial credit with the d e f endant , 

his account was in d ebit to the bank. It was therefo re said 

that on these occasions at least there must have been improper 

use of partnership funds . The difficulty was, however, that 

it had proved impossibl e for the two accountants to demonstrate 

that this really was the case . A statement of agreed facts 

had been submitted to the Supreme Court in an endeavour to 

show what had occurred in respect of the sales of imported 

buses . That statement recorded that certain receipts and 

payments formed part of or had come from a pool of money in 

the defendant's account but that it was not possible to 

id~ntify whose mone y was paid out of that account . It is 

unnecessary to pursue this topic any further than to say that, 

because of the inability of the accountants to resolve these 

matters, there seems to have been no point in the learned Judge 

ordering reference to a referee . He declined to do so and 

we are satisfied h e was justified in doing so . He accordingly 

s~ttled the accounts on the basis of the re-structured accounts 

but ·allowing for the findings he made upon the matters of 
' 
difference, and we agree that this was the prope r course . 

(b) The order for sale 

7 I , ' , 
~ , I ·• 

The usual course where former partners are in 
1 disagreement as tu th e division of partnership assets is 

for the Court to order a sale, and this is the course which 

it is contended the learne d Judge ought to have followed. 

Ins tead, he determined the v a l ues of the assets upon the 

basis of the balance sheet and direc t e d that the plaintiff 

purchase the defendant ' s half share . 

The course which ought to be followed in such 

cases is well recognized but is subject to a certain amount 

of flexibility. The matter is d ealt with by Lindley on the 

Law of Partnership , 14th Ed . , in this way : 
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p. 598 : "It has been already seen that, in .the 

And at 
p . 599: 

absence of a special agreement to the 
contrary, the right of each partner on a 
dissolution i s to have the partnership 
property converted into money by a sale : 
even although a sale may not be necessary 
for the payment of debts . " 

"The rule as to selling partnership 
property is merely adopted in order that 
justice may be done to all parties, when 
no other course has been or can be agreed 
upon . It is not an arbitrary rule, 
inflexibly applied in all cases whether 
it is necessary or not; and although, if 
one partner or his representatives insist 
on a sale, the Court may not be able to 
refuse t o enforc~ that right, still the 
Court is always inclined to accede to any 
other mode of settlement which may be fair 
and just between the partners . " 

The question, then, was how the learned Judge in this 

case was to achieve in 1982 a fair distribution between th e 

partners of the assets of a partnership which had been 

dissolved four years earlier . There is little doubt that if 

application had been made to the Court at that time an order 

for sale would hav e been appropri ate and would have been made . 

But the position had greatly changed. At the time of dissolution 

the partnership had stocks on hand to a value of over $282,000 . 

This alone is sufficient to indicate that a sale four years 

later coul d not possibly reflect the true position at 

dissolution, because what that value was would be a matter of 

speculation and uncertainty . 

There remained the question of whether the values 

of assets shown in the balance sheet reflected reasonably 

the true values at th at time . This could not have been the 

subject of any precise finding, but we have no doubt the 

learned Judge was entitled to adopt those values . They were 

contained in a balance sheet which had been compiled after 

making due allowance £or depreciation (and accordingly may 

well have r e presented rather less than the true market v alue) 

and after the writing off of stock to the extent of $12,100 . 
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The values of stock were taken from figures supplied by the 

plaintiff and ought to be accepted by him . 

We consider that the course followed by the learned 

Judge had the effect, as nearly as could be obtained, of 

equating the result of a sale if one had taken place in late 

1978. That was the time when the plaintiff should have 

been seeking a sale and it was no fault of the defendant 

that the matter was not resolved then . We accordingly 

conclude that the learned Judge was entitled to make the 

order for sale that h e did . 

Ancil lary Matters 

Having dealt with the two principal issues involved, 

which encompass several of the grounds of appeal, we turn 

now to a number of ancillary matters which formed the subject 

of argument on appeal . We do not suggest that they are of a 

minor or trifling nature, but we hav e found it convenient t o 

isolate first the matters of particular importance . We have 

not, therefore , dealt with the appeal in the same order as 

the grounds are set out in the notice of appeal. In any event 

the grounds as set out in that notice contain many duplications 

and repe titions and so need not be dealt with seriatim. 

l. Commencement of Partnership 

The first formal appearance of the defendant as a 

' partner is to be found in a form signed by the parties on the 

,, 28th December, 1972 for the purposes of the Registration of 

, Bt1siness Names Act. This was the record of the defendant's 

, admission to th e business of Brunswick Motors as a partner 

an~ ' it purports to show that the partnership commenced on 

• 'the 17th February, , 1971 . 

It was the plaintiff's case that , if there was a 

partnership at all, it did not commence until the 28th December, 

1972, and that accordingly the plaintiff was enti tled to any 
profit derived prior to that date . 
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, The · lear ned Judge held that the date of-commencement was 

2n~ February, 1971 . 

In the normal course a partnership will commence 

on the date of the agreem en t to form the partnership . The 

, parties may , however, agree that their partnership shall 

' operate retrospectively . (Lindley, p . 173). Where there is 

no written agreement it will n o doubt require convincing 

evidence that the intention was that it should be retrospective . 

It seems clear in this case that there was indeed 

agreement between the parties that there should be retrospective 

operation, although the precise date of commencement is rathe r 

less clear . The business of Brunswick Motors had commenced 

in abou t November, 1971 . In h is evidence the plaintiff in 

effect acknowledged that the partnership was to operate 

from some time prior to December 1972, although he resisted 

the suggestion that it went back as far as 2nd February, 1971 . 

When his solicitors wrote to the defendant on the 2nd May , 1978, 

to ask for access to his records they specified that it was 

desired to see those records "from commencement of the 

partnership during November 19 71 up to the date of audit . 11 

The first set of accounts for Brunswick Moto r s i s for the 

period from November, 1971, to the 31st December , 1972 . 

These accounts show the defendant as a partner and they were 

seen by the plaintiff who acknowledged his ability to understand 

them . There was , therefore, ample evidence upon which to 

find that the commencement date was to b e retrospective . 

It is, however, less easy to see that there was 

a sufficient basis for the finding that the commencement date 

was the 2nd February, 1971 . This finding was really based 

upbn that date having been shown in the document which 

evidenced the creation of the partnership . Both parties 

deni ed having written that date . The learned Judge held 

that it had been the plaintiff and he did so upon a comparison 

of the way in which the figures were written . 
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It seems to us that this was a rather slender basis for the 

finding, but we need not pursue the matter further . It is 

clear that the busine ss of the partnership did not commence 

at least until the arrival of an order of six chassis in 

October, 1971. Prior to that there had been two buses 

imported but they were for the use of the plaintiff's bus 

service and formed no part of the business of Brunswick Motors. 

To adopt a commencement date in November, 1971, rather than 

in, February, 1971, does not, therefore affect the financial 

relationship between the parties. 

We are not prepared to hold that th e commencement 

date ought to have been December , 1972, but, for what it may 

be worth, we think the finding of the learned Judge should be 

varied to November, 1971 , that is, to coincide with th e opening 

of .the partnership accounts. 

2. Use of Assets after Dissolution 

In his Counterclaim the defendant has included a 

prayer for reli e f in respect of the alleged wrongful use by 

•, the plaintif f of the partnership assets over a p eriod of some 

four years after dissolution. He claimed to recover his share 

of the profits made during that period or alternatively 

interest. The learned Judge found that the plaintiff had used 

the assets wrongfully and made an award of interest which he 

quantified at $42,897.94. 

There was evidence given at the hearing concerning _ 

the us e by the plaintiff of the assets after dissolution 

and it was a matter canvassed in argument . The appeal in 

respect of this matter is based , however, upon a procedural 

objection . 

At the time the hearing commenced the pleadings 

had reached the point where there was a Counterclaim which 

contained a singl e prayer for relief, namely for a declaration 

that the partnership be d i ssolved . On the first day of the 

hearing counsel for the defendant submitted to the Court a 
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document headed Proposed Prayer for Rel i ef . It appears that 

this was , in effect, an application for amendment of the 

Counte rcl aim by the addition of several new grounds. The 

Proposed Prayer contained 7 paragraph s in which particular 

reli ef was sought . The record made by the learned Judge 

shows that Mr . Koya offered no objection to any of those 

patagraphs except paragraph 3 . I n r espect of paragraph 3 

he seems to have maintained his objection . The learned Judge 

is recorded as having said that, without reading paragraphs 1 to 

26 of the Defence, he could not say whether th e proposed 

paragraph 3 arose on the Counterclaim. He gave leave to amend 

the Counterclaim by including all 7 prayers for relief . 

Paragraph 3 prayed : 

"A declaration that after the dissolution 
of the said partnership th e Plainti ff 
wrongfully used the partnership's assets 
to derive profits therefrom without 
accounting therefor to the Defendant . " 

The objection which is now raised is that there was 

no pleading upon which that prayer could have been based and 

that it ought not to have been included as a n amendment to 

the Counterclaim . 

This submission is based upon Order 18 r . 8(1) of 

the Rules of the Supreme Court which provides : 

11 8 . (l) A party must in any pleading subsequent 
to a statement of claim plead specifically 
a ny mat t er, for e x ample , performance, release, 
any relevant statute of limitation, fraud or 
any fact showing illegality -

(a) which he alleges makes any claim 
or defence of th e opposite party 
not maintainable; o r 

{b) which, if not specifically pleaded, 
might take the opposite party by 
surprise ; or 

{c) which raises issues of fact not 
aris ing out of the preceding pleading . " 
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It is perhaps unfortunate that there had not been 

an~ express allegations of fact directed to the use by the 
' ' 

plaintiff of the partnership assets over the period following 

dissolution . We do not think, however, that the pleadings 

, ~ere so deficient as to justify us in holding that the award 

' of interest which was made upon the basis of paragraph 3 in 

the prayer to th e Counterclaim should fail upon a matter of 

procedure . 

It was implicit in the prayer that there was an 

allegation of wrongful us e of assets e ven though that may 

have appeared in the wrong place. It was also implicit in 

the fact that both p a rti es sought the taking of accounts that 

those accounts should embrace th e position between th em for 

such period after th e dissolution as may have been necessary 

to determine the full entitlement of each of them . What 

really h appened was that the plaintiff engaged in an unofficial 

way in a winding-up of th e partnership business . He carried 

on the business on a reduced scale, gradually sold many of 

the assets, a nd eventually lodged some of the proceeds in a 

bank . Any profit derived by him in doing that was something 

for which he was required to account . A taking of accounts 

could therefore be expected to include that period . We are 

not prepared to uphold the procedural objection raised . 

The defendant sought either a shar e of profits made 

during the additional four years or alternatively interest . 

In the course of the hearing he elected to pursue only the 

claim for interest and this was the b asis upon which judgment 

was given . What the learned Judge did was t o allow interest 

at 5% per annum on the value of the defendant ' s share in the 

partnership as at the date of dissolution . 

We are not prepared to say that was an approach 

which was not ope n to th e learned Judge . The only alternative 

would have been to try and assess the actual profit which • 

ought to have been made by the proper conduct of the business 

during that period . 
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The accounts in respect of the actual conduct of t he business 

by the plaintiff are materiall y affected by the fact that he 

had sold some of the partnership stock to his own business 

of K. R. Latchan Brothers a t cost. In these circumstances 

some attempt would need to h ave been made to reconstruct the 

accoun ts upon a proper basis of trading. 

The learned Judge chose to make an award of interest 

which he considered to be less to the detriment of the plaintiff 

than .a notional calculation of profit, and we can see no 

reason for interfering with that. 

fail . 
This ground of appeal must 

3. Defendant's Capital Contribution 

The opening accounts of the partnership show each 

partner to have introduced a capital of $10,000 . It was 

foun~ as a fact by the learned Judge that the defendant did 

indeed introduce such a sum and one of the grounds of appeal 

this finding was not supportable on the evidence. 

The argument advanced was that a t the time the 
partnership was agreed upon, namely 28th December, 1972, the 

' tl
0

efendant' s account at the bank was in debit to the sum of 
$38,894 and so there could have been no question of his 
having contributed $10,000. It was, however, never the 

defendant' s case that he had drawn this sum in cash . What 

he had done was to effect the capital contributions for 

each of them by journal entry . His ev idence was that at 

that time the plaintiff's mother owed the plaintiff $13 ,000, 

and the plaintiff's capital contribution came, by means of 

journal entry , from that source . The defendant's own 

contribution is shown as having come from his own account . 

This was not a reference to his bank account, but to the 
account between himself and the plaintiff . The effect of 

these two entries was to reduce what would otherwise have 

been an indebtedness by the partnership to the defendant of 

$52 ,501.92 to an indebtedness of $32 501 . 92. 
I 
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I • 

• 
:{., ·T~.at is th e figure shown in the opening accounts . It was not 

'• ,, nec,essary for the defendant to show he had made his contribution 
' ' 

~• 1in cash so long as it was made for valuable consideration . 
• • I t ~ 

.' , • 'clearly it was and there was accordingly a proper basis for 

learned Judge • ~ finding . 

4. Whether Money Repaid to Defendant was Recoverable 

Throughout the period of the part nership, and indeed 

from long before that time , the defendant was advancing money 

as part of his business . The learned Judge held that he was 

a moneylender within the meaning of the Moneylenders Act, 

Cap. 234. This fi nding has not been challenged. It was 

alleged on behalf of the plaintiff that, as the defendant was 

never licensed as a moneylender any sums which had been lent 

by him to th e partnership should be held to be irrecoverable. 

Th is was upon the basis of section 15 of the Moneylende rs Act 

which prov ides: 

"15 . No contract for the repayment of money 
lent after the commencement of this Act 
by an unlicensed moneylender shall bP. 
e nforceab le . " 

This argument was met by the decision of the High 

Court of Australia in Kilgariff v Morris (1955) 91 C.L . R . 524 

in which it was held that th e corresponding section of the 

Australian Moneylenders Act did not apply to the case of money 

contributed by a partner, who was a moneylender, to partnership 

funds for the purpose of the partnership beyond the amount of 

capital he had agreed to subscribe . We need not refer in any 

greater detail to Kilgariff v Morris because we did not 

unaerstand Mr . Koya to challenge its authority . He contented 

himself ~ith submitting that the amount advanced by the defendant 

would not have been recoverable until after the accounts had 

been finalised - i.e. after dissolution . 

This would not seem to have any bearing on the present 

proceedings a nd we do not find it necessary to pursue this 
' ' 

topic further.' 

I ' ' 
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5 . Interest Charged by Defendant 

Throughout the per iod of this partnership the defendant 

debited the partnership regularly _with interest ·on the amount 

from time to time owing to him . This was allowed by the 

le~rned Judge, but it is argued that there was no authority 

for the defendant to have charged interest . 

Section· 25 of the Partnership Act, Cap . 248, provides : 

11 25 . The interest of partners in the partnership 
property and their rights and duties in relation 
to the partnership shall be determined subject 
to any agreement, expressed or implied, between 
the partners by the fol l owing rules -

·( c) a partner maki ng for the purpose of 
the partnership any actual payment or 
advance beyond the amount of capital 
which he has agreed to subscribe is 
entitled to interest at the rate of 
fiv~ per cent per annum from the date 
of the payment or advance." 

There was no evidence as to the rate of inter est 

charged by the defendant . The onus was, of course, upon the 

plaintiff to show that the rate was in excess of five per cent 

if that were thought to be the case . It was open to the defendant 

to charge interest unless t her e was an agreement to the contrary . 

There was no evidence of any such agreement . Indeed, there 

was evidence indicating that the plaintiff had acknowledged 

the defendant ' s right to charge interest . Each of the annual 

accounts showed the payment of interest and these were seen 

and understood by the plaintiff . He must be taken to have 

approved of . it . This ground of appeal must fail . 

6 . Buses Imported in the name of K. R . Latchan Bus 

Service 

Notwithstanding the formation of Brunswick Motors 

it was the plaintiff ' s case that between 1971 and 1974 a total 

of 38 chassis were imported by his own b usiness known as 
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K. R . Latchaq Bus Service and that these ought not to ha~e 

been shown in the partnership accounts . 

There was at all times a good deal of confusion 

with regard to the plaintiff ' s various business interests . 

This is demonstrated by ·the fact that in the Distributors 
' 

' Agreement with Seddon Motors Limited the Distributor is 

, d~scribed as "Brunswick Motors also trading as K. R . Latch an 

'i , , Bus Service . " 
~ I' I I ',, 

It was for the plainti ff to prove that i n 
1 respect of the 38 chassis in question they were intended to 

be the property of K. R. Latchan Bus Service and not of 

Brunswick Motors. The learned Judge held that this had not 

been established and we have no doubt that was a finding he 

was entitled to make . 

Brunswick Motors was established for the express 

purpose of importing buses and chassis for distribution and 

sale . Apart from the first two buses which went directly to 

K. R. Latchan Bus Service for its own use, all the rest wer~ 

re- sold . The probability at once arises therefore that this 

was done in accordance · with the original intention . The use 

of the name K. R. Latchan Bus Service for the purposesof 

importation has no significance . That name and Brunswick Motors 

were used interchangeably on many occasions . 

In particular, however , in each of the years 1971 

to 1974 the importations were clearly reflected in the accounts 

of the partnership which were seen and accepted by the plaintiff . 

7. Damages for Use of Confidential Information 

The plaintiff sought an order for damages or 

compensation 

"for the use of confide ntial information, 
matters or methods of his business, or for 
us e of Plaintiff's secrets . " 
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We need devote little time to this claim which was 

clearly misconceived . On behalf of the plaintiff it was 

sought to rely on the case of Seagar v Copydex Ltd (1967) 

2 All E . R. 415, but that was a case so far removed from the 

present one as to require no further mention. There was no 

suggestion that th e defendant us e d a ny knowledge h e may have 

gained of the plaintiff's affairs in order to compete with 

him or in some other way put that knowledge to profi t otherwise 

than within the partnership . 

this ground of appeal . 
There is no merit at all in 

I 9 • Travelling Expenses Charged by Defendant 

The defendant in each year charged travelling e xpens es 

against the partnership and objection was taken to the inclusion 
' of these sums . There can be little doubt that any trave lli·ng 

expenses actually incurred on partnership business were properly 

to ~e debited against the business . The appeal on this topic 

was based on tHe submission that it was necessary for the 

defendant to show that the expenses had been bona fide incurred. 

{ •' ~utting aside the fact that this seems to involve a reversal 

r , ~f ' ihe onus of proof, there was ample evidence on which the 

learned Judge was entitled to hold th at the e xpenses had been 
', 

incurred . 
'I 

In the first place, they were all recorded in the 

accounts each year a nd were not th e subject of any protest by 

the plaintiff. Moreover, they h ad been checked by Mr . Vilash 

in the compiling of his re-structured accounts , and the only 

real variation which seems to have been suggested by him was 

in the allocation of the expenses to particular years . In 

the end Mr. Vilash appears to have arrived at a total over 

the years whi•ch exceeds the amount claimed by the defendant. 

This ground of appeal has not been established . 

10. Garage and Workshop 

The garage a nd workshop used for the partnership 
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business were situated on land belonging ei ther to the plaintiff 

or his fami l y . They were shown throughout as assets in the 

partnership accounts. The plaintiff' s case was that this was 

not correct and they should now be e xcluded . The learned Judge 

' declined to do so and we can see no basis upon which we should 

differ from that view . 

The garage and workshop were taken in to the opening 

a~counts at a value of $5 , 575. During the period of the 

' p~rtnership there were addi tions made to a total value of 

$39,888 all of which was paid out of the partnership so th at , 

at the time of dissolution , and a llowing for annual depreciation, 

the value had risen to $37,582 . It is not easy to see upon 

what basis this item should be excluded, a nd we note that 

there was no argument advanced in support of the appeal on 
this point . 

11. Expenses Claimed by Plaintiff 

The Plaintiff sought declarations that he was 

entitled to debit against the final partnership accounts 

$3,600 per annum b y way of rent for t h e use of his garage 

and workshop , $2,400 per annum for the use of his car, and 

$6,000 per annum by way of remuneration for his services in 

managing the operations of the business . None of t hese was 

allowed by the learned Judge and we agree that they should 

not have been . 

As a partner the plaintiff was entitled to no 

remuneration other than h i s share of profits (Partnership 

Act, Cap . 248, s . 25 (f)) and there was no evidence of any 

agreement between the parties for the charging of rent or 

car expenses . No doubt if the plaintiff did in fact incur 

car expenses on the partnership business and had charged them 

they may well h ave been paid, as was the case with the 

defendant ' s interest and travelling e xpenses . They appeared 
I 

in the plaintiff's claim , however, as an afterthought and 
were unsupported by a ny evide nce . 
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12 . Allowance on Spares and Chassis 

In preparing his re-structured accounts Mr. Vilash 

added 10% to spares and 20% to chassis in r espect of stock 

taken over by Brunswick Motors when it comme nced business . 

It is not at all clear what this was intended to represent, 

and there is no pleading in the Statement of Claim which 

seems to refer to it. The argument advanced by Mr. Shankar 

on this ground of appeal was that the plaintiff was entitled 

to a reasonable profit for selling this stock to the partnershi~ . 

Whether that may have been so or not, the fact is that there 

is no evidence of any agreement by the parties that this 

charge should be made . Indeed , the stock was taken in at 

valuation. We are satisfied the learned Judge correctly 

disallowed it . 

13 . Accountancy Investigation Charges 

It was part of the plaintiff's case that he had been 

put to considerable expense by having to engage a firm of 

, accountants for the purpos e of analysing and re-constructing 

• , •. t.he accounts kept by the defendant, and he included a prayer 

for ' relief in respect of all costs incurred by him in that 

This was dis~llowed by the learned Judge. 

We are inclined to the view that this would have 

been a proper claim by the plaintiff because of the confusing 

and primitive nature of the defendant's records . Th e re seems 

to have been ample justifica tion for the employment of skilled 

accountancy assistance in order to analyse and make sense out 

of those records . We find ourselves, however, confronted by 

an absence of proof as to what would h ave been an appropriate 

sum to a ward. In his judgment the learned Judge refers to 

having b een informed by Mr. Chernov that the accountants ' 

charges were $15,000 . It is possible this ought to have been 

a refere nce to Mr . Koya or Mr . Shankar as it seems unlikely 

that counsel for the defendant would have been in possession 

of this information . 
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However, that may be, the real problem arises from the fact 

that we can find no reference in the evidence to charges which 

were incurred in this way. What does emerge is that the firm 
' I 

of accountants extended their investigations to cover the 

plaintiff 's other businesses and so the total charge would 

not all have been attributable to the present proceedings. 

Although we are sympathetic on a matter of principle, 

we do not feel justified in guessing at what an appropriate 

award might be and this ground of appeal must accordingly fail 

for lack of proof , of quantum. 

14 . Costs 

The learned J udge declined to make any order as to 

costs on claim or counterclaim. 
• I 

Each party has appealed against this . For the 

reasons we will give when we deal with this topic under the 

cross-appeal t he plaintiff's appeal concerning costs must fail . 

15. Other matters 

Lest it be thought we have overlooked them we should 

mention that there were a few remaining matters include d among 

the grounds of appeal with which we have not specifically 

dealt . It is sufficient to say that they are for the most 

part of a min0 r procedural nature . We have considered them 

but can find no merit in any of them and do not propose to 

refer further to them . 

CROSS-APPEAL 

The defendant has cross-appealed in respect of three 

matters. 

1. Accountancy fees 
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In each year the defendant debited the partnership 

with accountancy fees. These were disallowed by the learned 

Judge upon the basis that the defendant had acknowledged 

that part of his contribution to the partnership was the 

provision of accounting services, and that there was no 

evidence of agreement by the plaintiff for a cha~ge to be 

made for these services . He accordingly concluded that the 

charges made repres~nte d a remunerati c:1 to the defendant in 

his capacity as a partner in contravention of section 25(f) 

of the Partnership Act. With respect to the learn~d Judge 

we feel unable to agree . 

We think this is a matter which turns upon whether 

the plaintiff agreed that the charges should be made . If he 

did, then, notwithstanding that they may have had the 

character of remuneration, the defendant was entitled to 

claim them. The learned Judge considered there was no evidence 

that the plaintiff agreed to them, but we think that there 

was . We referred in a number of the plaintiff's grounds of 

appeal to the fact that he saw and understood each year the 

statements of account and must be taken to have aooroved them 

and aareed to their contents . We think the same comment 

applies in respect of the accountancy charges . These were 

regularly shown in the accounts, year by year, and were 

evidently the subject of no protest or objection . We consider · 

this amounts to agreement by him that the charges be made . • 

We accordingly allow t he cross- aoceal as to acco11ntancv 

charaes whicl1 should be restored as a debit against the 

partnership . 

2 . Commission 

The d e fendant also charged against the partnership 

, commission on th e sums advanced by him . These were disallowed 
I , 

0

by the learned Jud~e and we consider they were correctly 

disallowed. 
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It is true that, like the accountancy charges, 

commission appears in the accounts, although only in three 
I 

of the years and that the plaintiff at the time accepted 

them . They differ from accountancy fees, however, in 

that they lack any proper basis at all . 

The charge for commission was referabl e solely to 

the sums advanced, and it was acknowledged on behalf of the 

defendant that it could be no more than a procurement fee . 

As there was no question of procurement involved because 

.~he defendant simply drew on his own account there could 

b~ no proper basis upon whic h commission could be charged . 

This ground of cross- appeal must fail . 

3 . Costs 

The outcome of the proceedings in the Supreme 

Court was that the plaintiff succeeded upon two of his 

prayers for relief. These were the exclusion from the 

accounts of the charges made by the defendant for accountancy 

fees and commission. These two items together totalled 

$10,515 . 46 . He failed on all other matters and in particular 

on his challenge to the validity of the partnership and his 

claim f or the taking of accounts . On the counterclaim the 

defendant succeeded and obtained judgment for a total of 

$257,387 . 73 . It is not easy to unde rstand why in those 

circumstances there was no order for costs in favour of the 

defendant . 

The question of costs is one which is in the 

discretion of the Court, but that is a jud icial discretion 

and is to be exercised in t h e light of es t ablished practice . 

We consider that costs ought to have followed the event 

and that th e cross-appeal is entitled to succeed in this 

regard . 

The a mount of the costs is l ess easy to determine . 
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It cannot be a n order for cos t s in full because th e plaintiff 

succeeded in part a nd some regard must be paid to the 

unsatisfactory nature of the defendant's records which had 

a direct bearing on the length of the trial. In the 

circumstances we cons ider a proper award would have been to 

allow the defendant his costs but reduced by one-quarter . 

Regard would, of course, have to be paid to the amended 

amounts involved as the result of the appeal and cross-appeal . 

SUMMARY 

We summarise our findings in this way . The appeal 

is allowed in respect of the finding as to the date of 

commencement of the partnership which should be November, 1971, 

and not th e 2nd ~ebruary , 1971 . 

I t is dismissed on all other grounds . 

The cross - appeal is allowed in respec t of : 

1 . The disallowance of accountancy fee s charged 

by the defendant . These are to be restored 

as a debit against the ~artnership. 

2 . The disallowance of costs t o the defendant . 

There will be an order for costs to the 

defendant in the Supreme Court but reduced 

by one-quarter . 

The cross - appeal is dismissed in respect of the remaining 

ground . 

The appeal has fai led on all except one minor 

' point and the cross-appeal has succeeded on two of the 

three grounds raised . 
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The defendant is accordingly entitled to his costs on the 

appeal and the cross-appeal . 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Vic e President 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Judge of Appeal 

Judge of Appeal 


